HAMPSHIRE.

SUPERINTENDENT REGISTRARS, REGISTRARS OF BIRTHS, DEATHS, &c.

HAMPSHIRE.—As subdivided into Districts under the Registration Act 6 and 7 William IV. chap. 85, 86, of Births, Deaths, and Marriages, showing the several Parochial Unions, with the Registrars' Districts, the Name and Address of Superintendent Registrars, Registrars of Births and Deaths, and the Registrars of Marriages, in the several Parochial Unions in the County.

* The letters A, B, &c. refer to the several Divisions of Unions on the accompanying Map of Hampshire, and the figure refers to the Table of Unions, above.

		·	
UNION. Name and Address of Superintend. Registrars.	Registrars' Districts.	Name and Address of Registrars of Births and Deaths.	Name and Address of Marriago Registrars.
A 1. Alresford, Jasper Wright, Alresford.		R. Ryder, New Alresford J. S. Hathaway, Bishop Sutton	20 E SI SI
B 2. Alton, M. H. Moss, Alton.	Selbourne	W. Harbor, Binstead, Alton J. Debenham, jun. Selbourne, do. C. Biddle, Alton	
G 3. Andover, Thos. Lamb, Andover.	Tarrant Long Parish	R. Cook, Clanville, Andover J. Purver, Hurstborne Tarrant, do. H. Wheeler, Wherwell, do. G. Postans, Amport Green, do.	Page F
D 4. Basingstoke, Geo. Lamb, Basingstoke.	Bramley	G. Willis, Basingstoke	C. Doman, Basingstoke
Hen. Glasse, Horndean.	Horndean	R. Gale, Horndean	R. Gule, Horndean
6. Christchurch, Hen. Pain, Christchurch.	Christehurch .	J. Scott, Christchurch	R. Sharp, Christchurch
H. C. Smith, Hambledon, Hornd.	Bp's. Waltham	G. V. Rogers, Westmeon, Alton., L. J. Lovekin, Bishop's Waltham F. Hoad, Droxford, Alton	L. J. Lovekin, Bishop's Waltham
E. S. Fareham, B. P. Rubie, Fareham.	Titchfield Fareham	E. Andrews, Titchfield	W. Case, Fareham R. Gough, Titchfield
E 9. Fordingbridge, G. C. Rawlence, Fordingbridge.	Fordingbridge	J. Langford, Fordingbridge	J. Langford, Fordingbridge
Jas. Brooks, Odiham.	Hartly Wntny Od ham and Crondall	C.T. Howard, Hartlyrw, Hartfidbr S. Andrews, Odiham	G. Cook, jun. Odiham
C. B. Longeroft, Havant.	Havant	H. Parker, Havant	H. Parker, Havant
see Winchester.	ħ.	8	s)
W. Holding, Kingsclere.		H. Dale, Kingsclere	
6	£ §	1	ī

HURSLEY with AMPFIELD, a parish, including the hamlet of Ampfield, and situated on the high road from Romsey to Winchester, distance 61 miles east of the former, and 41 miles from the latter towns. Hursley Park, with its large and elegant mansion, the seat of Sir William Heathcote, Bart, overlooking a vast tract of country, richly wooded and well stocked with deer, and surrounded by plantations and scenery of considerable beauty for many miles. The church is an ancient building, principally of brick, with square tower of stone. The whole of the edifice, with the exception of the tower, is about to be taken down, and a new one to be erected on its site; a temporary place of worship is now being fitted up for the reception of the congregation during the alterations. The living is a

GENTRY. Alner Misses Charlotte & Ann Chamberlain Thos. esq. Cranbury park Heathcote Sir Wm. bart. Hursley park Heathcote Mrs. Hursley park Keble Rev. John, A.M. [rector] Lovell Langford, esq Lovell Mrs White Joseph, esq. Ampfield house Wilson Rev. Robert, A.M. Ampfield Young Rev. Peter, A.M. TRADERS.

Bailey Charles, farmer Bailey William, farmer Barton Henry, farmer Ball William, 'King's Head' Bunce William, builder Dennis Theodore, surgeon

Post Office.-William Mills, master. Letters arrive by foot post from Winchester; morning at 7, despatched evening at 8

Union Workhouse, for the Parishes of Baddesley, Hur-sley, Farley, & Otterbourne. The Board meet the last tuesday in the month. W. C. Yonge, esq. chairman;

Harapshire, situated in a narrow but pleasant valley, the ugh which, for three parts of the year, flows a small am called the Swift, which rises in the parish. It is to be the state of the county. It is in the Union of Andover, I undred of Pastrow, Division of Kingsclere, diocese chester, and in the northern division of the county. Itains 900 inhabitants. The living, now in the gift of ishop of Winchester, is a vicarage, with Fernhams 1, or Vernhams Deane, annexed. It is now held by ev. Gilbert Alder, M.A., and the Rev. James Connell, is the curate. The tithes are commuted, the rectorial, on lives to John King, Esq.), at £1,340 per and the vicarial at £455 11s. 6d. per annum. arial glebe is worth £50 yearly, exclusive of the idence, which is excellent. The church, dedicated r, is very ancient, has a square wooden tower *51 miles north-east from Andover, and 101 miles r, is very ancient, has a square wooden tower is; the interior consists of a nave with aisles eylindrical piers, and low pointed arches, of letter part of the welltin century; a chancel, monuments to the memory of the Paulet , and others. The Independents have a chapel here, a school. There is a National school, recently erected, ch William Vokins is master. It is supported in part sums of £5 and £2 10s., bequeathed by William Jones nd Peter Dore, in 1756, for the purpose of educating the poor,

rectory, in the patronage of Sir W. Heathcote, Bart, and enjoyed by the Rev. John Keble, A.M. The Union workhouse is at the extreme eastern end of the village. AMPFIELD, a hamlet of Hursley, pleasantly situated 2 miles west of Hursley, has a church of considerable beauty; it is nearly new, and built in the Gothic style; the material

is blue brick and stone. It has a slate roof and belfry, with a tasty octagonal spire. At the western entrance of the churchyard is a conduit, curiously built of stone, with an appropriate scriptural tablet, and surmounted with a cross. The living is endowed with £2,000 by Sir W. Heathcote and J. White, Esq. The present incumbent is the Rev. Robert F. Wilson, A.M.

Elcock Mrs. Hannah, shopkeeper Fowlie William, land steward Garrett William, farmer, Standen Goffe Edward, farmer, Silkstead Good Ralph, clerk to the Union Hall Robt. 'White Horse,' Ampfield Hall Thomas, shopkeeper Haskel John, brickmaker Hicks Charles, 'Dolphin,' & carpenter Hoskins Edwd.timber mercht.Ampfield Lavington Nicholas, farmer Martin Job, shopkeeper Miles Henry, parish clerk Mills William, post office master Misselbrook Henry, boot & shoe maker Misselbrook Joseph, boot & shoe maker Moore Mrs. Elizabeth, shopkeeper Morley Charles, blacksmith

Payne James, gamekeeper Pinnick Henry, shopkeeper Plumridge Hy. master of Free school Poole Mrs. Mary, farmer, Ampfield Porter Richard, farmer, Standen Remsbury William, farmer Self John, farmer Sillence Benj. shopkeeper, Ampfield Sillence Thomas, farmer, Ampfield Sillence T. jun. farmer Vine Henry, saddler Vine Mrs. Jane, matron of Union Vine William, governor of Union Walton William, farmer, Marden Westbrook Henry, butcher Wild Mrs. Elizabeth, blacksmith Wild George, blacksmith

Joseph White, esq. vice-chairman; Rev. John Keble, chaplain; Theodore Dennis, surgeon; Ralph Good, clerk; William Vine, governor; Mrs. Jane Vine, matron Church, Rev. John Keble, A.M. rector; Rev. Peter Young, A.M. curate; Henry Mills, clerk Ampfield Church, Rev. Robert F. Wilson, A.M. incumbent

HURCTBOURNE TARRANT is a large village in and with 18 shillings, part of £9 per annum arising from £300 consolidated annuities, invested by Richard Bunny in 1770, and by a deed executed by him directed to he annually distributed to the unprovided poor of Hurstbourne Tarrant, but 18 shillings thereof was to be applied by the trustees or wardens to the educating two or more poor children. The three sums, £5, £2 10s., and 18s., are now appropriated to the support of the National school, with £8 per annum presented by D. Dewar, Esq., and £10 per annum presented by T. A. Smith, Esq., making together £26 8s., which is further augmented for a sufficient stipend for the master by annual subscriptions from the landowners and inhabitants. The whole parish, including the hamlets of Ibthorp and Upton, comprises 5,035 acres, in which there are two large woods and two commons, of 200 acres and 70 acres; the latter distinct from the farment the complete. latter distinct from the former; the owners and occupiers of the hamlet of Ibthorp only having a right thereon, and which extends to everything there growing for their own each in their own right, thereof, as they are also of their own land in the hamlet of Ibthorp. The general surface of the land is hilly, but fertile and productive, and the son; which inclines to the calcareous principally, is well suited to the growth of wheat, turnips and saintioin. The rateable value is £4,123; D. A. B. Dewar, Esq., is the lord of the manor.

GENTRY. Alder Rev. Gilbert, M.A. Vicarage Blount Joseph, esq house Bunny Richd. Eurle, esq. Prosperous Baker Rev. Charles [Independent minister], Upton Connell Rev. Jas. M.A. [curate] Easton Misses Maria & Emma Dance Mr. James Medhurst John Vincent, M.R.C.S.E Mosdell Mrs. & the Misses, Ibthorp ho TRADERS. Alexander Henry, farmer & castrator Pill farm Allen Joseph, farmer & castrator, Upton Annetts George, carpenter&wheelwrght Anthony Anthony, tailor Batchelor Chas. hootmaker & parish clk Bailey Wm, coal & wood dealer

Bartholomew John, corndealer, &c. Uptn | Kent Joshua, shopkeeper & baker Benule Richard, farmer, Mill farm Church Harry, yeoman Clements Wm. carrier Cook Thomas, 'King's Head' Gerrish Samuel, farmer, Upton Green John Hillier, timber dealer Green George, shopkeeper Guy William, watchmaker Head James, grocer & draper Hedderley Jason Ivy, maltster & farmer, Upton Herbert Wm. farmer, Ibthorp Herbert Charles, farmer, Ibthorp Hilliard Wm. farmer, Low. Conholt Hillier William, harness maker, &c Hutchins George t. icklayer, Ibthorp Hutchins Richard, bricklayer & beershop keeper, Pill Down

Knight Mrs. Hannah, Coopers' Arms Knight Miss Martha, shopkpr. & baker Knight Stephen, cooper Lee Miss, Independent school mistress Marks Mrs. beershop keeper, Upton Medhorst John, painter, &c Medhorst Mrs. Elizbth, plumber, &c Miles Thomas, farmer, Parsonage farm North Daniel, beer shop keeper North William, butcher & castrator North John, bootmaker, &c Nutley Charles, multster Nutley Jhn. maltster & brewer, Ibihorp Nutley Wm. thatcher & gardnr. Ibthorp Osmond Richard, butcher Pope Thomas, blacksmith Piper Misses, dressmakers Poore Eli, carpenter, Upton

Purver John, registrar & relieving | Spicer William, shopkeeper officer, Ibthorp Parver Mrs. John, school, Ibthorp Smith Mrs. straw bonnet maker Smith Christopher, wood dealer Smith William, farmer Smith William, wood dealer

Turtle Matthew, brewer & multster, George commercial inn Vokins William, National schoolmaster Waight William & Henry, timber dealers, wheelwrights, carpenters, builders, &c

Watts John, farmer, Upton Wilkins Thomas, carpenter & wheelwright Wilkins Isaac, carpenter & wheelwright Wilkins John, tailor Willis Walter, blacksmith, Upton

Post Office.-Mrs. Anne Batchelor, receiver. Letters arrive from Andover at 9 a.m. & are dispatched at 5 p.m. CARRIERS:-

Clements, jun. to Newbury, tuesday & thursday; to Andover, wednesday & saturday

Clements, sen. to Andover, from Newbury, thursday; to

tower, which has a very fine peal of bells. The living is a Hurstburne Park, is in the parish. vicarage, in the gift of the Bishop of Winchester, and the

GENTRY, Portsmouth Earl of Fellowes Henry, esq TRADERS. Bennett Thomas, parish clerk Butler Thomas, farmer

Fleet John, bailiff Fuller Charles, paper maker Golding Edward, smith Greenhead Charles, physician Lansley George, farmer Lovell Charles, beer retailer

Sexton, Charles Smith HURSTBURNE PRIORS, a parish in the Hundred of Evingar, 9 miles north-west from the Andover road station of the South Western railway, and 2 from Whitchurch. The church, St. John, is a rather large structure, with low The Earl of Portsmouth is lord of the manor, whose seat,

Newbury, from Andover, friday, & continues on to Reading

Spreadbury, to Oxford, from Salisbury, wednesday; to Salisbury, from Oxford, saturday

Parish Clerk, C. Batchelor

Mills Mrs. Jane, beer retailer Oborne George, farmer Smith Henry, wheelwright Wright John, baker Letters are received through the Andover road office

HYTHE is a chapelry or district division, in the parish of | annual value of about £150. The Hon. and Rev. Adolphus Fawley, 3 miles west of Southampton, by water, and 12 by | Frederick Irby, M.A., is the present curate. The church, land. It is in the Union of New Forest, Hundred of Bishops | dedicated to St. John, is of brick and stone, and was built Waltham, Southampton and South divisions of the county of Southampton, most agreeably situated on the bank of the Southampton water, and nearly opposite to that town, with which a communication is kept up by the passage boats, at the state of the county in 1823 by public subscription, aided by a grant from the incorporated church building society; it has 250 free sittings. Here is a National school supported by voluntary contributions, aided by a small weekly payment by the pupils. the charge of threepence each person. Here are many respectable houses. The living is a perpetual curacy, in Drummond, Esq., is the lord of the manor, the gift of the incumbent of the parish of Fawley, of the

GENTRY.

Barnes Miss Mary Ann Churchill Lord Allen Covey Joseph, esq Deschamps Mrs. Mary Dodd Luke, esq Haynes Joseph, esq Irby the Hon. & Rev. Adolphus Frederick, M.A Kelsall Charles, esq Laver Benjamin, esq McCull Dugald, esq Pare Rev. Robert Roberts Colonel Peregrine Sainthill Capt. Lichard, u.N Smith Mr. Thomas Spencer Mr. Arthur Tate Miss Mary Towns Nr. Thomas TRADERS.

Baker John, shoemaker Baker William, shoemaker & shopkeepr | Langer Joseph, ironmonger & appraiser

Post Office Receiving House.—Charles Bishop, Postmaster, the Drummond Arms. Letters received

REBESTEY, a parish 3 miles north from Ringwood, and 3 south from Fordingbridge, in the Hundred and division of Ringwood, containing 870 acres of land, and, in 1841, a population of 324. The church is a small building; by the side of the altar there is a curious monument of Sir John Constable and his lady buseling under a containing and residue of the Earl of Normanton is lord of the manor. Constable and his lady kneeling under a canopy, with an | | Curtis Stephen, farmer

Venables Mrs Brown Mrs. Elizabeth, school mistress | Mist Charles, farmer Coles Jeremiah, wheelwright

post office Bound Thomas, shoemaker Bower Rev. William Henry, schoolmaster & Independent minister Bowie Mrs. Ann, butcher Bowie Mrs. Sarah, ladies' day school Bundy Mrs. Sarah, shopkeeper Cotton Richard, bricklayer & parish clk Elcock James, baker & shopkeeper Elcock William, tailor French Mrs. Mary, shopkeeper Froud William, shoemaker German George, bricklayer, 'Anchor & Hope' Gird Benjamin, iailer Hyde Mr. Henry, mastr. of the National Jarman Thomas, grocer, baker, & agent

to the Royal Farmers insurance office Martell William, carpenter & builder

Hayter William, farmer & parish clerk

Thomas William, farmer Letters are received through the

Insworth is a parish, including the hamlet of Finch Dean, distant 1 mile north of Finch Dean, 3½ miles west of Horn Dean, 6 miles north of Havant, and 64 miles from London, in the Hundred of Finch Dean and diocese of Winchester. A small chapel of case is situated at Idsworth Park; Jervoise Jervoise Clerk Jervoise Clerk Jervoise, Bart.

Jervoise Jervoise Clerk Jervoise Clerk Jervoise, Bart.

Jervoise Jervoise Clerk, esq. Idsworth | Buden Jas. parish clk. Finch Dean house | Cannings & Howell, irnfndrs. Finch Dean Cannings & Howell, irnfndrs. Finch Dean

Martin George, farmer, Idsworth
Powell Thos. George inn, Finch Dean Horn Dean office

Pearson Fras. carrier & shopkeeper, Finch Dean Russell William, blacksmith & shop-keeper, Finch Dean Letters are received through the

Hedgecock James, wheelwright & earpenter, Finch Dean

Read John, farmer

Also a place of worship for independents. Andrew Robert

Bishop Charles, Drummond Arms Pace John, brewer, malt ter & beer hotel, tavern & commercial inn, & retailer Petts John, linendraper Pinnick Robert, butcher Smith Robert, surgeon Stephens Henry, beer retailer Stephens John, Lord Nelson inn packet & ferry house Stephens Thomas, beer retailer Taylor John, brewer, mitstr.& beer reti Truman Frederick James, linendraper Tyson Thomas William, tailor White George, carpenter White Josiah, blacksmith Winckworth William, pier master Withers William, baker Witt Mrs. Ann, shopkeeper Wolfe Mrs. Rebecca, ladies' day school Wyatt John, shoemaker Wyatt Miss Mary, mistress of the National school

Wyatt Thomas, shomaker through the Southampton office. Letters delivered in 8 a.m. Letter box closes at 8 p.m.

Ringwood office

Balsworth Mrs. Elizabeth, mistress to the Free school, Finch Dean

Boyes Robert, farmer, Idsworth CARRIER-Francis Pearson, from Finch Dean to Portsmouth, on tues, thurs. & sat, returning same days

the vicarial at £455 11s. 6d. per annum. The vicarial glebe is worth £50 yearly, exclusive of the vicar's residence. The church, dedicated to St. Peter, is very ancient, and has a square wooden tower with 5 bells; the interior consists of a nave with ailes, separated by cylindrical piers and low pointed arches, of the date of the latter part of the 12th century; a chancel, in which are monuments to the memory of the Paulet family and others. The Independents have a chapel here, with a school. Here is a National school, supported in part by two sums of £5 and £2 10s., bequeathed by William Jones and Peter Dore, in 1756, for the purpose of educating the poor, and with 18 shillings, part of £9 per annum arising from £300 Consolidated Annuities, invested by Richard Bunny in 1770, and by a deed executed by him directed to be annually distributed to the unprovided poor of Hurstbourne Tarrant who have not received parochial relief, but 18 shillings thereof was to be applied by the trustees or wardens to the educating two or more poor children. The three sums, £5, £2 10s., and 18s., are now appropriated to the support of the National school, with £8

£26 8s., which is further augmented for a sufficient stipend for the master by annual subscriptions from the landowners and inhabitants. The whole parish, including the hamlets of Ibthorp, or Ibthrop, three-quarters of a mile north-west; Upton, 2 miles north-west; and Conholt, 3 miles north-west, comprises 5,035 acres, in which there are two large woods and two commons of 200 acres and 70 acres, the latter distinct from the former, the owners and occupiers of the hamlet of Ibthorp only having a right thereon, and which extends to everything there growing for their own use in the hamlet, but not for sale; and they are the lords each in their own right thereof, as they are also of their own land in the hamlet of Ibthorp. The general surface of the land is hilly, but fertile and productive, and the soil, which inclines to the calcareous principally, is well suited to the growth of wheat, turnips and saintfoin. The rateable value is £4,123; D. A. B. Dewar, Esq., is the lord of the manor.

PROSPEROUS is three-quarters of a mile north-east; Binley, 2 miles east; Stoke and Stokehill, 13 miles southeast; Upwick and Five Lanes, 2 miles south-east; French's per annum presented by D. Dewar, Esq., and £10 per Lodge, 2 miles south; Wood House, 2 miles south-west; annum presented by T. A. Smith, Esq., making together Pill, 2 miles west; Brickleton is a tithing.

Hurstbourne Tarrant.

GENTRY. Alder Rev. Gilbert, A.M. [rural dean &

vicar] Blount Joseph, esq Fletcher Rev. John [Indepndent.mnstr]

Herbert Mr. John TRADERS. Annetts George, carpenter & whlwright Anthony Anthony, tailor Bailey William, wood dealer Ball George, 'King's Head' Batchelor Ann (Mrs.), postmistress & stamp office Batchelor Chas. shoemkr. & parish clk Batten William Dale, farmer, Prosperous farm Bendle Hugh Elton, farmer, Mill farm Chandler James, 'George' Church Harry, farmer Day Henry, carrier
Dillon Eugene, inland revenue officer Green George, shopkeeper Green John Hillier, farmer Guy William, watchmaker

Head James, draper & grocer

Herbert Wm. North, frmr. Low. Conholt Hutchings George, coal merchant, butcher & beer retailer Knight Hannah (Mrs.), Arms,'& cooper Knight Stephen, maltster Massey George, baker & grocer Medhurst Elizh. (Mrs.), pntr. plmbr.&c Medhurst John Vincent, surgeon Miles Thomas, farmer Moon Charles, farmer, Pilldown farm North John, shoemaker Nutley Charles, maltster Osmond Richard, butcher Poffley James, blacksmith Purver John, relieving officer & registrar of births & deaths Purver Mary Ann (Mrs.), ladies' school Smith William, wood dealer Waight William, hoop maker, timber merchant & wheelwright

wheelwrights Ibthorp. Mosdell Misses

Webb William, harness maker

Wilkins Robert & Isaac, carpenters &

TRADERS. Alexander Henry, farmer & castrator Bound William, farmer Herbert Herbert, farmer Hutchings George, bricklayer Nutley John, maltster & beer retailer Nutley William, gardener Purver Richard Eli, farmer Tanner Charles, shoemaker Warwick James, beer retailer Wilkins John, tailor Upton. TRADERS.

Bartholomew John, sen. mealman Bartholomew John Stephens, corn & seed dealer Fosbury John, farmer
Gerrish Thomas, corn & seed dealer
Hedderley Jason Ivy, maltster & farmer
Hunt Harvey, carpenter & wheelwright Leach Joseph, farmer Poore James, farmer Tarrant Henry, farmer Vincent William, beer retailer Watts Richard, farmer Willis Walter, blacksmith

Post Office.-Mrs. Anne Batchelor, receiver. Letters arrive from Andover at 9 a.m. & are dispatched at 5 p.m. The nearest money order office is at Andover Parish Clerk, C. Batchelor National School, William Alexander, master; Mrs. Mary Alexander, mistress Police Station, William Milles

HURSTBOURNE PRIORS, a parish in Whitchurch Union, Evingar hundred, North Hants, 62 miles from London, and 2 from Whitchurch station. The church, St. John, is a neat structure, with low tower, which has a very fine peal of bells. The living is a vicarage, in the gift of the Bishop of

Winchester, and the tithes have been commuted for £190;

North Mr. Henry Bunce Portsmouth Rt. Hon. Earl, Hurstbourne park

TRADERS. Bennett Thomas, parish clerk Butler Thomas, farmer, Apsley farm

Burton Rev. Richard John, M.A. [curate] | Golding Edward, blacks mith & post offi | Slade William, manufacturer of blotting Lamb George, steward to Earl Portsmth Lansley (Mrs.), farmer, Faulkners Down

Lovell Charles, 'Portsmouth Arms' Mills Jane (Mrs.), beer retailer Oborne George, farmer

CARRIERS: Day, to Newbury, thursday; to Andover, saturday
Clements, sen. to Andover, from Newbury, thursday; to
Newbury, from Andover, friday, & continues on to Reading, saturday Whitmarsh, to Oxford, from Salisbury, wednesday; to Salisbury, from Oxford, saturday

it is held by the Rev. S. T. Lockhart, of St. Mary Bourne. The parish contains 468 inhabitants, and 3,132 acres of land. The Earl of Portsmouth is lord of the manor, whose seat, Hurstbourne Park, is in the parish. Here is a paper mill. APSLEY, FAULKNERS DOWN and NEW BARN are farms.

> paper to the Treasury, writing & printing paper, Hurstbourne mills Smith Henry, wheelwright Stevens John, saddler & harness maker Stride Philip, farmer, New Barn farm Wright John, baker & beer retailer

Post Office.—Edward Golding, receiver. Letters received through Andover road; arrive 8 a.m.; dispatched 7 p.m. The nearest money order office is at Whitchurch.

HYTHE is a hamlet, town, and ecclesiastical division | in the parish of Fawley, New Forest Union, Dibden liberty, South Hants, 6 miles from Redbridge station, 91 from London, 3 miles west of Southampton by water and 12 by land. It is most agreeably situated on the bank of the Southampton water, and nearly opposite to that town, with which a communication is kept up by the passage boats. In 1851 the population was 680. The living is a perpetual curacy, in the gift of the incumbent of the parish of Fawley, of the annual value of £150; the Hon. and Rev. Adol-

phus Frederick Irby, M.A., is the curate. The church, dedicated to St. John, is of brick and stone, and was built in 1823 by public subscription, aided by a grant from the Incorporated Church Building Society; it has 250 free sittings. Here is a National school, supported by voluntary contributions, aided by a small weekly payment by the pupils; also a place of worship for Independents. Andrew Robert Drummond, Esq., is the lord of the manor.

PETTY is 1 mile west; Mullins, half a mile south-west, Langdown, 1 mile south-west.

Its parish contains 867 souls and 5035 acres of land, rising in bold undulations, and including the small village of IBTHORPE, or Ibthrop, half a mile N., and part of Upron hamlet, which is 2 miles N.N.W. of the church, and is partly in the parish of Vernham's Dean. Though hilly, the parish is generally fertile, and well suited to the growth of wheat, turnips, saintfoin, &c., the soil being chiefly calcare-It includes more than 1200 acres of woods, and has two high moorland commons, one 200 and the other 70 acres. On the latter, the inhabitants of Ibthorpe hamlet have exclusive commonright, but the other is open to all the parishioners. The parish extends to Prosperous, Pilldown, and Lower Conholt farms, the latter of which is near the borders of Wiltshire. David Attinwell Bartle Dewar, Esq., of London, is lord of the manor, but a great part of the soil belongs to smaller freeholders. The Chunch (St. Peter) is an ancient structure, of mixed architecture, with a wooden tower and five bells. The cylindrical pillars and low-pointed arches of the nave are of the 12th century. The chancel was restored in 1853, at the cost of £600, by the Ecclesiastical Commissioners, as appropriators of the rectory. It contains a handsome monument in memory of Lieut. Fras. Alder, of the 77th regiment, who died at Scutari, Oct. 6th, 1854, aged 21. He was the third son of the present vicar. Among the other monuments is one to a Paulet, and another in memory of the Rev. Peter Debary, who was 40 years vicar here, and died in 1841, aged 77. The vicarage, valued in K.B. at £8. 13s. 4d., and now at £370, with the curacy of Vernham's-Dean annexed to it, is in the patronage of the Bishop of Winchester and incumbency of the Rev. Gilbert Alder, M.A., who is also rural dean of the N.W. Division of Andover Deanery. (See page 68.) The glebe is 8 The Vicarage House is a commodious residence, which was improved in 1842, at the cost of £800. The tithes were commuted in 1841—the vicarial for £267. 11s. 6d., and the rectorial for £704. 17s. 6d. There is an Independent Chapel in the village, built in 1840, and there is a smaller one at Upton, The National School was built in 1848, at the cost of £374. Two yearly rent charges, viz., £5 left by Wm. Jones in 1756, and £2. 10s. left by Peter Dore in the same year, are applied towards the support of the school. Poor widows and widowers of the parish have 20s. a-year left by Mary Mundy, in 1706, out of land at North Down. In 1775, Richard Bunny gave £300 three-per-cent. consols, in trust for relieving the poor parishoners, and schooling two poor children of that part of Upton which is in this parish. Out of the dividends the trustees pay 16s. 8d. yearly to the school, and they distribute the remainder among 40 or 50 poor parishioners. In 1797, the Rev. Peter Debary left £25, in trust to apply the interest in distributions of religious books. The poor of Ibthorpe hamlet have a yearly rent-charge of 7s. 6d., left by Luke Pearce, out of land at Wildhern.

In the following DIRECTORY of HURSTBOURNE-TARRANT PARISH, those marked 2 are in IBTHORPE and 3 in UPTON. The Post Office is at Mrs. Ann Batchelor's. Letters by foot-Henry Day, of Ibthorpe, is the weekly Carrier to Newbury on post from Andover.

Thursday, and Andover on Friday.

Alder Rev. Gilbert, M.A., vicar & rural dean, Vicarage Alexander Wm. schoolmr Anthony Anthony, tailor Bailey Wm. wood dealer Ball Geo. vict. King's Head 3 Bartholomew Jno. Stephens, gardener and seedsman Batchelor Ann, post office Chandler Jas. vict. George & Dragon Dance Mr James Daw Wm. Hy. boardg. school 2 Day Henry, carrier 3 Gerrish Thos. land survr., valuer, & seedsman Green Mrs Priscilla Guy Thos. watchmaker, &c. Knight Hanh. vict. Cooper's Arms Medhurst John Vincent, sur-

painter and glazier 2 Mosdell Misses Nutley Charles, maltster Purver John, relieving officer and registrar Purver Mary Ann, school Scott Wm. Hy. excise officer Webb Wm. saddler, &c. Wickham Wm. gent 2 Wilkins John, tailor

FARMERS. 2 Alexander Hy. castrator Bendle Hugh Elton, Windmill farm Blount Jph. | Lockyer Chas. 2 Bound Wm. & John 2 Child Wm. Criswick Eustace Caleb, Prosperous

maltster farm 3 Hedderley Jason Ivy, and 2 Herbert Herbert

Medhurst William, plumber, Herbert Wm. North, Lower Conholt Miles Thos, Parsonage farm Moon Charles, Pilldown

2 Purver Richard Eli

BEERHOUSES. | Wilkins Isaac 2 Brown Rd. HutchinsGeo. 3VincentWm. BLACKSMITHS. Poffley Jas. Sendall Jno. 3WillisWalter BUTCHERS. HutchinsGeo. Osmond Rd. CARPENTERS & Wheelghts. Annetts Geo. 3HuntHarvey Waight Wm., timber mert

Wilkins Thos. SHORMAKERS. 3Baiden Jas. Batchelor Chs & par. clerk Hendy Hy. North John SHOPKEEPERS. Bartholomew Jn. meal Green Geo. 3HuntHarvey Head James Massey Geo, Roberts Jph. Poffley Jas.

TANGLEY, a scattered village near the borders of Wiltshire, 5 miles N.N.W. of Andover, has in its parish 278 souls and 1561 acres of hilly land, all enclosed, and including 48 acres of woodland. Wm. Mortimore, Esq., is lord of the manor, but a great part of the soil belongs to the Pierrepoint, Lawrence, Fowle, Carter, Smith, and other families. The Church (St. Thomas) is a small antique edifice, with a low wooden tower. The benefice is a curacy consolidated with Faccombe Tangley tithes were commuted in 1838, for £330 per annum. Post via Rectory. Andover.

Adams Eliz, shopkpr. & vict. Five Bells Carter George, blacksmith Carter Mary, schoolmrs Carter Mr Thos. & David Cook James, church clerk Green Charles, shoemaker Hutchins Chas. bricklayer & vict. Fox Inn

Knight Hy. butcher & vict. Cricketers' Arms Leach Isaac, beerhouse Winter Henry, shopkeeper Wise George, shoemaker Wise Phæbe and Robinson Charlotte, shopkeepers Wise Wm. basket maker

FARMERS. (*Owners.) Huson Robt. Street farm *Lawrence Chas., Hayes Lawrence Thos. Ashridge Leveridge Wm. Tangley *Smith Daniel Turtle Wm. Uer Green Young Charlotte, East-end

VERNHAM'S DEAN, or VERNHAM, is a large hilly parish adjoining Wiltshire, extending from 7 to 9 miles N. of Andover, and including the small neighbouring villages of Dean, Vernham Row, and Vernam Street, about 8 miles S. of Hungerford and N. of Andover; and part of Upron hamlet, which is only 7 miles N. of Andover, and is partly in the parish of Hurstbourne-Tarrant, as already noticed. The parish includes also several scattered farm houses, &c., and contains 744 souls and 3840 acres of land, rising in bold undulations, and having a strong chalky soil. Wm. Child, Esq., is lord of the manor, and occupies the Manor farm (more than 600 acres,) but the greater part of the parish belongs to the Heath, Miles, Herriott, Hilliard, Hooper, Randall, Bevan, and other families. Church (Virgin Mary) is near Vernham street, and was restored in 1851, at the cost of £1000. It is a neat structure, in the Early English style, except the western doorway, which is a fine specimen of Norman architecture. The benefice is a curacy, consolidated with the Vicarage of Hurstbourne-Tarrant. The tithes of this parish were commuted in 1841—the vicarial for £188, and the rectorial for £635. 2s. 6d. The latter belong to James King, Esq. The Wesleyan and Primitive Methodists have small chapels here.

In the following DIRECTORY of VERNHAM'S DEAN PARISH, those marked 2 are in VERN-HAM ROW; 3, in VERNHAM STREET; 4, in UPTON; and the rest in DEAN VILLAGE, or where The Post Office is at Chas. Smart's, and letters are received via Hungerford. John Beaven is the Carrier, to Andover, on Friday, and to Newbury, on Thursday.

Child Wm., Esq., Manor Hs | Vincent Chas. schoolmaster 3 Cole Rev Robert 3 Cooper Rev Richard, B.A. curate Beaven John, carrier, and vict. Masons' Arms Few Mr Charles 4 Hedderley Mr Jason Ivy, senior Hedderley Mr Thomas Hurdford Wm. tailor 2 Lansley Rd. jun. builder Lansley Mr Wm. Hy., Bank Strond Wm. vict. George Townsend Geo. horsebreaker, and vict. New Inn

2 Wheeler Henry, surveyor

FARMERS.

Marked * are Owners.

Barns Thos., Wheelers' farm 3 Castleman Henry 2 *Child Charles, Box farm *Child Wm., Manor farm Clark Wm., Dean Herbert Wm. North, Lower Conholt 2 *Herriott Thomas

*Hilliard Alfred, Ankers 3 *Hooper George

Knight Alfred, Street and Littledown Lansley Richd., Bank farm 2 Miles Charles, and Wilts 2 *Miles Thos. | Piper Geo. 3 Piper William 4 Platt Fras. | Poore Jas. BLACKSMITHS. | Vivash Tem. 2 Davis Geo. | SHOEMAKERS. & parish clk Cooke Rd. 3ShuttleChs. Davis Thos. Smart Chas. 3 Shuttle Geo. Wilkins Jno. and beerhs GROCERS,&C. WHEELWGTS. 3 HolmesEdw 2 Lansley W. Smart Charles | Randall Ths.

LINKENHOLT, a small village on an eminence, 9 miles N. of Andover and S. of Hungerford, is near the junction of the three counties of Hants, Wilts, and Berkshire, and has in its parish only 90 souls and 1074 acres of land. The lords of the manor and owners of the soil are two reverend namesakes-the Rev. John Morton Colson, M.A., of Swanage, (Dorset,) and the Rev. John Morton Colson, LLB., of Dorchester. The latter is patron and incumbent of Linkenholt Rectory, valued in K.B. at £7. 0s. 5d., and now at £213. The Church (St. Peter,) is a small ancient fabric, with a wooden belfry, containing two bells. The parish was Cole Rev. Arthur Raggett, B.D. [domestic chaplain to the Earl of Portsmouth & curate in charge] Dawkins Miss, Hurstbourne Park lodge Tennell Herbert

Hawker Peter James Duff Portsmouth Right Hon. Earl of, Hurstbourne park COMMERCIAL.

Butler Mary (Mrs.), farmer Cox Joseph, cooper

Golding Edward, blacksmith, & post office Lovell Grace (Mrs.), Portsmouth Arms Smith Henry, wheelwright Twitchin Andrew, jun.farmer, New barn-Twitchin George Webb, farmer

HURSTBOURNE TARRANT is a large village, 5½ | miles north-west from Andover, situate in a narrow but pleasant valley, through which, for three months of the year, flows a small stream called the Swift or Test, which rises in the parish: it is in the Northern division of the county, Andover union, petty sessional division and county court district, Pastrow hundred, diocese and archdeacoury of Winchester, and rural deanery of Andover north division. The church of St. Peter is very ancient, and has a square wooden tower with 5 bells: it has a nave with asles, separated by cylindrical piers and low pointed arches of the date of the latter part of the twelfth century, and chancel, in which are monuments to the Paulet family and others. The register dates from the year 1546. The living is a vicarage, yearly value £300, with residence, in the gift of the Bishop of Winchester, and held by the Rev. Gilbert Alder, B.C.L., late scholar of Trinity Hall, Cambridge, surrogate. Three sums of £5, £2 10s. and 18s., bequeathed by different donors, are appropriated to the support of the National school, aided by annual subscriptions from the landowners and inhabitants. The Independents and Primitive Methodists have chapels here. A. W. Dewar, esq., who is lord of the manor, the Misses Mosdell, and Henry Atkins, esq., are the principal landowners. The general surface of the land is hilly, but fertile and productive, and the soil, which inclines to the calcareous, is well suited to the growth of wheat, turnips and saintfoin. The rateable value is £4,484 15s. 0d. The whole parish, including the hamlets of IBTHORP (or

IBTHROP), three-quarters of a mile north-west, UPTON, 2 miles north-west, and CONHOLT, 3 miles north-west, comprises 5,036 acres, in which there are two large woods and two commons of 200 acres and 70 acres, the latter distinct from the former; the owners and occupiers of the hamlet of Ibthorp only having a right thereon, and which extends to everything there growing, for their own use in the hamlet but not for sale; and they are the lords, each in their own right thereof, as they are also of their own land in the hamlet of Ibthorp. Rateable value £4,788; the population in 1871 was 887.

PROSPEROUS is three-quarters of a mile north-east. Parish Clerk, Charles Batchelor.

POST & MONEY ORDER OFFICE & Savings Bank.—Charles Batchelor, receiver. Letters arrive from Andover at 8.30 a.m.; dispatched at 6 p.m. in summer & 5 p.m. in winter INSURANCE AGENT .-Liverpool & London & Globe, C. Batchelor, Post office

Relieving Officer & Registrar of Births & Deaths for Hurstbourne Tarrant District, Augustus Horrell, Upton National School, William Alexander, master; Mrs. Mary Alexander, mistress

CARRIERS:

William Lambden, to Newbury, monday & thursday; to Andover, wednesday & friday

May, to Andover, from Newbury, friday; to Newbury, from Andover, friday, & continues on to Reading, saturday

 ${f Hurstbourne\ Tarrant}.$

Alder Capt. Charles, R.N. Vicarage Alder Rev. Gilbert, B.C.L. [vicar & surrogate], Vicarage Adams Mrs Alexander Thomas Blake Thomas William Dewar Albermarle Willoughby Dewar Mrs. Dole's house Hartland William Hill Henry Massey Mrs Stone Miss

COMMERCIAL. Anthony Anthony, tailor Batchelor Charles, shoe maker, & post Blake Thomas William, surgeon Cook Charles, George Day Henry, wood dealer Gerrish Samuel, seed merchant Gerrish Thomas, land valuer Green George, shopkeeper & farmer Guy William, watch maker Head James, draper & grocer

Herbert William North, farmer, Lower Conholt Hill Henry, farmer & landowner Hill Henry, farmer & landowner
Hillier George, baker & shopkeeper
Hutchins Geo. butcher & beer retailer
Knight Alfred, cooper
Knight Alfred, jun. Coopers' Arms
Lambden William, carrier
Locke Jane (Mrs.), straw bonnet maker
Lockyer Charles, farmer
Medhurst William painter & plumber Medhurst William, painter & plumber Miles George, farmer, Parsonage farm Moon Charles, farmer, Pilldown farm North John, shoe maker Osmond Richard, butcher & cattle dlr Roberts Caroline (Mrs.), shopkeeper Sandell John, blacksmith Wallis George Henry (Mrs.), school Webb William, harness maker Wilkins Charles, carpenter Wilkins Isaac, carpenter & wheelwright Wright Arthur, shopkeeper

Ibthorp.

Mosdell Misses

COMMERCIAL. Adams Thomas, farmer Aplin William, farmer Bound John, farmer Bound William, farmer & landowner Bradbury Grant, wheelwright & blacksmith Brown Thomas, beer retailer Richardson William, shopkeeper

Upton.

Johnson Rev. Alfred [Independent] Simmonds Robert Edmund, Upton ho COMMERCIAL. Baiden Jas. shoe maker & beer retailer Fosbury William, beer retailer Hedderley Jason Ivy, maltster & farmer Horrell Augustus, relieving officer, & registrar of births & deaths for Hurstbourne Tarrant district Horrell Edward, machine owner Hunt Harvey, carpenter & wheelwright Poore James, farmer Stride Herbert, farmer Willis Walter, blacksmith

HYDE, 2 miles south-east from Fordingbridge, is an ecclesiastical parish, formed in 1855 from the old parish of St. Mary, Fordingbridge, in the Southern division of the county, Fordingbridge union, county court district and hundred, in the rural deanery of West Fordingbridge, and archdeaconry and diocese of Winchester. BLISFORD, FROGHAM, HUNGERFORD and NORTH GORLEY are places in this parish. The church of the Holy Ascension, built in 1855, is in the Second Pointed or Decorated style of architecture, and has chancel, nave, north vestry and south porch, and bell turret containing 2 bells. A sum of £200, presented by Sir Edward Hulse, bart., has been invested, the interest to be ecclesiastical parish, formed in 1855 from the old parish of St.

Cottman Mrs Giles Rev. Edwin, B.A. Hyde farm Viney Miss, North Gorley Warren Rev. Richard Peter, M.A. Vicarage Bailey Henry, smith, Frogham Bailey John, farmer, Frogham Barter James, smith, North Gorley Bartlett Robert, farmer, Blissford Brown Philip, shopkeepr. NorthGorley

Cheater Jane (Miss), farmer, Nth. Gorley Coles Mary (Mrs.), shopkeeper, Stucton Crosby Stephen, shopkeeper, Frogham Downer Mrs. farmer, Blisford Dunn William, beer retailer, Frogham Gardner Wm. shopkeeper, Hungerford Hockey George, flax dresser Ings George, brick maker, Blisford Kensington George, shoe maker Maynard George, farmer, Blisford

applied for repairing the church and insuring against fire. The register dates from the year 1856. The living is a vicarage, yearly value £224, with residence and 5 acres of glebe land, in the gift of, and held by, the Rev. Richard Peter Warren, M.A., of Exeter College, Oxford. Eyre Coote, esq., is lord of the manor. The principal landowners are the Earl of Normanton, John Coventry, esq., and Eyre Coote, esq. The soil is of a mixed character; subsoil, gravel and clay. The chief crops are wheat, barley and oats. The population in 1871 was 870.—Letters from Salisbury viâ Fordingbridge, the latter is nearest money order office.

Mitchell Albert, corn dealer & miller, North Gorlev Parker Thomas, farmer, Frogham Parker Milliam, farmer, Frogham
Parker William, farmer, Frogham
Pope Charles, farmer, Hungerford
Read Peter, Royal Oak, North Gorley
Skinner Christabella (Mrs.), Hyde frm Thomas Charles, farmer, North Gorley Witt Vincent, brewer, North Gorley Wort George, farmer, Blisford.

HYTHE is a small town and ecclesiastical parish, formed in 1841 from the civil parish of Fawley, in the Southern division of the county, New Forest union, Southampton from Totton station, 9 miles from Redbridge station, 91

HURSTBOURNE TARRANT, a parish and village, 5½ miles N.E. from Andover, and 10½ S.W. from Newbury station, in Andover union, Pastrow hundred, North Hants. The living, in the gift of the Bishop of Winchester, is a vicarage, with Fernhams Dean, or Vernhams Deane, annexed; it is held by the Rev. Gilbert Alder, M.A., rural dean. tithes are commuted—the rectorial (leased on lives to John King, Esq.) at £1,340 per annum, and the vicarial at £455 11s. 6d. per annum. The vicarial glebe is worth £50 yearly, exclusive of the vicar's residence. The church (St. Peter) is an ancient structure, and has a square wooden tower with 5 bells; there are monuments to the memory of the Paulet family and others. The Independents and Primitive Methodists have each a chapel here, with schools. Here is a National school, supported in part by two sums of £5 and £2 10s., bequeathed by William Jones and Peter Dore, in 1756, for the purpose of educating the poor, and with 18s., part of £9 per annum arising from £300 Consolidated Annuities, invested by Richard Bunny, in 1770, and by a deed executed by him directed to be annually distributed to the unprovided poor of Hurstbourne Tarrant who have not received parochial relief; but 18s. thereof was to be applied by the trustees or wardens to the educating of two or more poor children. The three sums, £5, £2 10s., and 18s., are now appropriated to the support of the National school, with £5 per annum presented by Mrs. A. B. Dewar, and £5 per annum presented by S. Stanley, Esq., making together £18 8s., which is further augmented for a sufficient stipend for the master by annual subscriptions from the landowners and inhabitants. The whole parish, including the hamlets of Ibthorp, or Ibthrop, three-quarters of a mile N W., Upton, 2 miles N.W., and Conholt, 3 miles N.W., comprises 5,036 acres, in which there are two large woods and two commons of 200 acres and 70 acres, the latter distinct from the former, the owners and occupiers of the hamlet of Ibthorp only having a right thereon, and which extends to everything there growing, for their own use in the hamlet, but not for sale; and they are the lords, each in their own right thereof, as they are also of their own land in the hamlet of Ibthorp. The population in 1861 was 839. Mrs. A. B. Dewar, lady of the manor.

Prosperous is three-quarters of a mile N.E.

Postal Regulations.—Charles Batchelor, sub-postmaster. Letters arrive from Andover at 8.30 a.m., dispatched at 1 p.m.; money-order office and savings bank. Post town, Andover.

Carriers—Bevan, to Newbury, Thursday; to Andover, Friday. Clements, sen., to Andover, from Newbury, Thursday; to Newbury, from Andover, Friday, and continues on to Reading, Saturday.

National School—William Alexander, master; Mrs. Mary Alexander, mistress.

HURSTBOURNE TARRANT.

Alder Rev. Gilbert, M.A., rural dean and vicar

Baker Rev. Charles, Independent minister

Blake Thomas William, Esq

Dewar Mrs. A. B., Doles hall

Medhurst Mrs. John

Nutley Mr. Edward

COMMERCIAL.

Annetts Geo., carpenter and wheelwright
Anthony Anthony, tailor
Batchelor Charles, shoemaker, parish clerk
and sub-postmaster
Blake Thomas William, surgeon
Cook Charles, George and Dragoon inn
Day Henry, wood dealer

National Gazetteer (1868) - Hurstbourne Tarrant

"HURSTBOURNE-TARRANT, a parish in the upper half of the hundred of Pastrow, Andover division of county Hants, 5½ miles N.W. of Andover, its post town, and 10½ S.W. of the Newbury railway station. The village, which is considerable, is situated in a narrow valley on the river Swift, which flows only during certain periods. The surface is hilly, but fertile. There are extensive woods and commons. It comprises the hamlets of Ibthorp, Upton, and Corrholt. The road from Newbury to Andover crosses the parish. The appropriate tithes have been commuted for a rent-charge of £1,340, and the vicarial for £402.

The living is a vicarage* annexed to the curacy of Vernham Dean, in the diocese of Winchester, value £370, in the patronage of the bishop. The church, dedicated to St. Peter, is an ancient structure of the latter part of the 12th century, and has a square wooden tower containing five bells. It contains monuments of the Paulet family and others. The charities produce £19 per annum, a portion of which is applied to the support of the National school. The Independents have a chapel, and a school in connection with it. D. A. B. Dewar, Esq., is lord of the manor."

"BRICKLETON, a tything in the parish of Hurstbourne Tarrant, hundred of Pastrow, in the county of Southampton, 5 miles to the N. of Andover."

[Description(s) from *The National Gazetteer of Great Britain and Ireland* (1868) - Transcribed by Colin Hinson ©2003]

HURSTBOURNE TARRANT is a large village, on the road to Newbury, and in a narrow but pleasant valley through which, for three months of the year, flows a small stream called the Swift, which rises in this parish. this parish, 53 miles north-by-east from Andover and 42 miles north-west from Hurstbourne station on the main line of the London and South Western railway; it is in the Western division of the county, Andover union, petty sessional division of the county, Andover union, petty sessional division and county court district, Pastow hundred, rural deanery of Andover and archdeaconry and diocese of Winchester. The church of St. Peter is an ancient building of stone, in the Norman and Early English styles, consisting of chancel, were of three have sizes south north and a western nave of three bays, asiles, south porch and a western tower of wood with small spire, containing 5 bells; tower of wood with small spire, containing 5 bells; there are two piscinæ and an ancient font, and a monument to the Paulet family, 1677-97: the chancel and nave were restored about 1890, and the tower in 1897: the church affords 230 sittings. The register dates from the year 1546. The living is a vicarage, net yearly value £280, with 12 acres of glebe and residence, in the gift of the Bishop of Winchester, and held since 1907 by the Bev. Richard S. Arrowsmith M.A. of Corpus Christi College, Oxford. Here is a Congregational chapel, built in 1840, with 160 sittings, and a Primitive Methodist chapel. Doles is the property and residence of Albemarle O'Beirne Willoughby Dewar esq. A. O'B. W. Dewar esq. who is lord of the manor, William Bound esq. and James Cordery esq. are the principal landesq. and James Cordery esq. are the principal land-owners. The general surface of the land is hilly, but fertile and productive, and the soil, which inclines to the calcareous, is well suited to the growth of wheat, barley, oats, turnips and sainfoin. The whole parish,

HURSTBOURNE TARRANT.

PRIVATE RESIDENTS.
Adams Miss, The Cedars Arrowsmith Rev. Rd. S., M.A. Vicarage Bell Samuel James, Claremont Dewar Albemarle O'Beirne loughby, Doles
Gilmour John Henry M.R.C.S.Eng.,
L.S.A.Lond., J.P. Hurst lodge Gunner Mrs Merritt Mrs. Anna Lea, The Limes Stephenson Hamilton Russell, Garvery

COMMERCIAL. Bell Charles, baker & grocer Briant Brothers, machine owners Briant James, carman Broad James, saddler Brooks James, butcher & farmer Coleman Gilbert Charles, blacksmith Vincent, Coleman Joseph William Coleman Joseph William Vincent, apartments, Dalton house Edwards Obed, coal dealer Gilmour John Henry M.B.C.S.Eng., L.S.A.Lond., J.P. surgeon, & medi-L.S.A.Lond., J.P. surgeon, & medical officer & public vaccinator 6th district, Andover union, Hurst lo prosser Henry Wykey, Windmills oodyer Timothy. blacksmith district, Andover union, Hurst lo
Goodyer Timothy, blacksmith
Green Henry Colson, farmer
Hillier Fredk. George & Dragon P.H

HYDE is an ecclesiastical parish, formed in 1855 from the old parish of St. Mary, Fordingbridge, and a village 2 miles south-east from Fordingbridge station on the Bournemouth and Salisbury section of the London and South Western railway, and about 5 north from Ringwood, in the New Forest division of the county, Fording hydrodes handred and south western railway, and county of the county is the county of the county of the county of the county is the county of ingbridge hundred, union and county court district, petty sessional division of Ringwood, and in the rural petty sessional division of Ringwood, and in the rural deanery of Ringwood and archdeaconry and diocese of Winchester. The church of the Holy Ascension, built in 1855, is an edifice of red brick with stone dressings in the Decorated style, consisting of chancel, nave, north vestry, south porch and a western turret containing two bells: the stained east window was erected in 1875 by the Rev. R. P. Warren M.A. late vicar, in memory of his parents, and there are six other stained windows: in the chancel is a finely carved reredos of stone, representing the institution of the reredos of stone, representing the institution of the Holy Eucharist, erected by his widow to the Rev. Richard Peter Warren M.A. vicar 1855 till his death, 18 Sept. 1885: there are 230 sittings. A sum of £200, presented to the church by the late Sir Edward Hulse bart. (d. May, 1903), has been invested, and the interest is applied to the repairs of the church and the insuring it against fire. The register dates from the year 1856. The living is a vicarage, net yearly value £200, including 5 acres of glebe, with residence, in the gift of Keble College, Oxford, and held since 1885 by the Rev.

including the hamlets of Ibthorp (or Ibthrop), three-quarters of a mile north-west, and Upton, 2 miles north; west, comprises 4,738 acres, in which there is a large wood and two commons of 200 acres and about 59 acres, the latter distinct from the former, the owners and occupiers of the hamlet of Ibthorp only having a right thereon, and which extends to everything there growing, for their own use in the hamlet, but not for sale; rateable value, £2,752; the population in 1901

Sexton, Alfred Wells.

Post, M. O., T. & Express Delivery Office,—Miss Elizabeth Martha Lloyd, sub-postmistress. Letters arrive from Andover at 7.15 a.m. & 2.40 p.m.; dispatched to a.m. & 6.20 p.m.; no sunday delivery

Post Office, Upton .- Mrs. Louisa Jane Weston, subj postmistress. Letters arrive from Andover at 8.20 a.m. & 5.25 p.m. (callers only); dispatched at 6.35 a.m. & 5.50 p.m.; no sunday delivery. Vernham Dean is the nearest money order & telegraph office, 13 miles distant

Wall Box, Ibthorp, cleared at 9 55 a.m. & 6.15 p.m. week days only

Elementary School, built 1845, for 130 children, & since enlarged for 170; average attendance, 112; William Beake Corbett, master

Elementary School, Upton (mixed), built in 1872, for 50 children; average attendance, 30; Miss N. G. Jones, mistress

Carrier.—White, to Andover, mon. & fri.; to Newbury, tues. thurs. & sat

Hillier Henry, woodman Hillier Thomas G. relieving officer
No. 2 district & registrar of births & deaths No. 4 district, Andover union

Hodges Newton, grocer & draper Hutchins Frances (Mrs.), dress ma Hutchins Sarah Jane (Mrs.), beer ret Knight William, builder Leicester Herbert Augustus, farmer.

Doiley manor
Miles Norris B. grocer & draper
Pavey Ann (Mrs.), aparts. Dean ho
Pond John, farmer, Parsonage farm Ponting John, farmer, Pillheath

Bainsford James, gamekeeper to A. O'B. W. Dewar esq Summerton Frederick John, farmer, Prosperous farm Vicker Arth. Chas. Craddock, butchr Weeks John, blacksmith

IRTHORP.

White Victor, carrier

Bound William, farmer & landowner Briant Edward, woodman Briant Geo. farmer, Bank Tree farm Ford George, beer retailer Gerrish William, assistant overseer, clerk to Parish Council & deputy registrar of births & deaths for No. 4 district. Andover union Ousley Herbert (Mrs.), farmer, Wind, mill farm

Purver James, coal dealer & farmer UPTON.

PRIVATE RESIDENTS. Heath Allan Borman, Upton manor James Henry Ernest, Ivy home Newton Robert, Upton house

COMMERCIAL. Baiden Alfred Heury, shoe maker Baiden Alfred James, beer retailer Bennett Mark, Crown inn Brooks William, farmer Case Emily Jane (Mrs.), farmer Heath Hugh D'Ovly, farmer Heath William H. farmer Randail Charles, farmer Prosser Henry Wykey, Windmills

COMMERCIAL.

Bound Sidney & Norman, farmers,
The Yews

Seward John, blacksmith
Waldren John Cheswick, farmer
Weston Louisa Jane (Mrs.), shopkeeper & sub-postmistress

Thomas Nathaniel Pearce. Here is an undenominational meeting room. Sir Eyre Coote, of West Park, Rockbourne, who is lord of the manor, and the Earl of Normanton are the principal landowners. The soil is of a mixed character; subsoil, gravel and clay. The chief crops are wheat, barley and oats. The population in

Parish Clerk, Charles Mist.

BLISSFORD, 12 miles north-east; FROGHAM, half mile north-east; here is a Congregational chapel, erected in 1820, with 120 sittings; Hungerford, quarter of a mile west; and North Gorley, three-quarters of a mile south, as also part of Stuckton, are places in this parish.

Post Office, Stuckton.-Archibald John Bedford, subpostmaster. Letters arrive from Salisbury, via Fordingbridge, at 7.20 a m. & 4.20 p.m.; dispatched at 10.30 a.m. & 6.55 p.m.; sundays, 11 a.m. Fording-bridge, 12 miles distant, is the nearest money order & telegraph office

Pillar Letter Boxes: North Gorley, cleared at 8.30 am. & 6 15 p m. week days & 10.25 a.m. on sundays; near School, 10.15 am. & 4.55 p.m. week days; sundays 10.45 a.m. & Blissford, cleared 9 a.m. & 5.20 p.m. sundays, o a.m.

Elementary School (mixed), built in 1885, for 200 children, at a cost of about £700; average attendance, 122; William Robert Mills, master

at the rectory, St. Mary Bourne. Rev. Herbert Crosland Bell M.A. of Pembroke College, Cambridge, is curate in charge. The Wesleyan chapel here will seat 100. Hurstbourne Park is the seat of the Countess of Portsmouth; the mansion is a gabled Jacobean edifice of red brick with stone mullioned windows, standing on an eminence in a beautifully-wooded park of 1,000 acres stocked with deer. The Countess of Portsmouth is lady of the manor and sole landowner. The rivers Test and Bourne, which flow through this parish, are stocked with trout, and the fishing here is the best of its kind in the south of England. The soil is principally gravel; subsoil, chalk. The chief crops

PRIVATE RESIDENTS. Portsmouth Countess of, Hurstbourne cottage park Bell Rev. Herbert Crosland M.A. Woodham Major William B (curate in charge), Vicarage de Lacy Col. Charles Lacy, Apsley Hill Miss, The Long house Makins Col. Sir George Hy.F.R.C.S., C.B., K.C.M.G. The Cottage Savage Sir George Henry M.D. The Island

on the road to Newbury, and in a narrow but pleasant valley through which, for three months of the year, flows a small stream called the Swift, which rises in this parish, 52 miles north-by-east from Andover and 43 miles north-west from Hurstbourne station on the main line of the London and South Western railway; it is in the Basingstoke division of the county, Andover union, petty sessional division and county court district, Pastow hundred, rural deanery of Andover and archdeaconry and diocese of Winchester. The church of St. Peter is an ancient building of stone, in the Norman and Early English styles, consisting of chancel, nave of three bays, aisles, south porch and a western tower of wood with small spire, containing 5 bells: there are two piscinæ and an ancient font, and a monument to the Paulet family, 1677-97: the chancel and nave were restored about 1890, and the tower in 1897: the church affords 230 sittings. The register dates from the year 1546. The living is a vicarage, net yearly value £280, with 12 acres of glebe and residence, in the gift of the Bishop of Winchester, and held since 1907 by the Rev. Richard Staines Arrowsmith M.A. of Corpus Christi College, Oxford. Here is a Congregational chapel, built in 1840, with 160 sittings, and a Primitive Methodist chapel. Doles is the property and residence of Albemarle O'Beirne Willoughby Dewar esq. A. O'B. W. Dewar esq. who is lord of the manor, Solomon Ford esq. and James Cordery esq. are the principal landowners. The general surface of the land is hilly, but fertile and productive, and the soil, which

HURSTBOURNE TARRANT.

PRIVATE RESIDENTS. Arrowsmith Rev. Richard Staines Edwards Obed, coal dealer M.A. (vicar), Vicarage Chard Capt. Harry Athelstan, Garvery house Dewar Albemarle O'Beirne Willoughby, Doles Ford Solomon, Doiley manor Gilmour John Henry M.R.C.S. Eng., L.S.A.Lond., J.P. Hurst lodge Merritt Mrs. Anna Lea, The Limes

COMMERCIAL.

Bell Charles, baker Briant Brothers, machine owners Briant Basil, butcher Briant James, carman Brooks James, farmer Brown Henry, assistant overseer & clerk to the Parish Council, Dean ho Burder Reginald E. C. farmer Coleman Joseph William Vincent. apartments, Dalton house

are wheat, barley, oats and turnips. The area is 3,226 acres of land and 23 of water; rateable value, £5,944; the population in 1911 was 389 in the civil parish and 1,541 in the ecclesiastical parish. Sexton, Sidney Cook.

Post Office.—George Cook, sub-postmaster. Letters from Whitchurch. The nearest money order & telegraph office is at Whitchurch, 2 miles distant Wall Letter Box, at Station

Elementary School (mixed), built in 1855, for 100 children; Mrs. Esther Pearce, mistress

Railway Station, Horatio Lewis Taylor, station master Wilkinson Wm. Fischer, Yew Tree Lee Geo. Hodge, frmr. New Barn frm

Nunn George, gamekeeper to the

People's Refreshment House Associa-

Countess of Portsmouth

Wise George J. Copper Beech Wyld Capt. Wm. Hy. J.P. The Elms COMMERCIAL. Cook George, blacksmith & sub-post- | Perry Richard, gardener to the Counmaster Estate Office of the Countess of Ports- Putnam Richard Edmund, farmer, mouth (Edmund Tancock, agent &

clerk of works)

tion Limited, Portsmouth Arms P.H. (Edward Saint, manager) tess of Portsmouth The Dairy farm Village Hall (E. Tancock, hon. sec) Fleet Eliza (Mrs.), watercress grower Ware Gilbert S. farmer, Manor farm

HURSTBOURNE TARRANT is a large village, | inclines to the calcareous, is well suited to the growth of wheat, barley, oats, turnips and sainfoin. The whole parish, including the hamlets of Ibthorp (or Ibthrop), three-quarters of a mile north-west, and Upton, 2 miles north-west, comprises 4,841 acres, in which there is a large wood and two commons of 200 acres and about 59 acres, the latter distinct from the former, the owners and occupiers of the hamlet of Ibthorp only having a right thereon, and which extends to everything there growing, for their own use in the hamlet, but not for sale; rateable value, £3,196; the population in 1911 was 719 in the civil parish and 771 in the ecclesiastical parish.

Sexton, Alfred Wells.

Post, M. O., T. & Telephone Office.-Miss Elizabeth Martha Lloyd, sub-postmistress. Letters arrive from Andover; no sunday delivery

Post Office, Upton.-Mrs. Louisa Jane Weston, subpostmistress. Letters arrive from Andover; no sunday delivery. Vernham Dean is the nearest money order & telegraph office, 13 miles distant

Wall Letter Box, Ibthorp

Elementary School, built 1845, for 130 children, & since enlarged for 170; William Beake Corbett, master Elementary School, Upton (mixed), built in 1872, for 50 children; Mrs. Mary Godwin, mistress

Carriers .- White, to Andover, mon. & fri.; to Newbury, thurs. & sat.; F. Weston, to Andover, mon

Coleman William Gilbert, blacksmith Mackilligin Neil Grant Prosser Henry Wykey, Windmills

COMMERCIAL.

Bound Sidney & Norman, farmers, Gilmour John Henry M.R.C.S.Eng., L.S.A.Lond., J.P. surgeon, & medi-The Yews Bound Arthur Courtney, farmer cal officer & public vaccinator 6th Briant Edward, woodman Briant Geo. farmer, Bank Tree farm Ford Frances E. (Mrs.), beer retailer Purver James, farmer

UPTON.

PRIVATE RESIDENTS. James Henry Ernest, Ivy home Keeling Stamp, Upton manor

COMMERCIAL.

Brooks William, farmer Heath Hugh D'Oyly, farmer Heath William H. farmer Porter William J. Crown inn Stokes Brothers, poultry farmers Waldren John Cheswick, farmer Weston Louisa Jane (Mrs.), shopkeeper & sub-postmistress

the old parish of St. Mary, Fordingbridge, and a village 2 miles south-east from Fordingbridge station on the Bournemouth and Salisbury section of the London and South Western railway, and about 5 north from Ring-

Cooper Arthur, news agent

Green Henry Colson, farmer

Hodges Newton, grocer & draper

house decorator & undertaker

Miles Norris B. grocer & draper

Ponting John, farmer, Pillheath

Hillier Henry, woodman

Hutchins Thomas, farmer

O'B. W. Dewar esq

White Victor, carrier

Bound Mrs

Found Mary J. (Mrs.), beer retailer

district, Andover union, Hurst lo

Hillier Fredk. George & Dragon P.H

Knight William, builder, contractor,

Pavey Ann(Mrs.), aparts. Old Manor ho

Rainsford James, gamekeeper to A.

IBTHORP.

PRIVATE RESIDENTS.

Anderson James J. Ibthorp house

HYDE is an ecclesiastical parish, formed in 1855 from | court district, petty sessional division of Ringwood, and in the rural deanery of Christchurch and archdeaconry and diocese of Winchester. The church of the Holy Ascension, built in 1855, is an edifice of red brick with stone dressings in the Decorated style, consisting of wood, in the New Forest and Christchurch division of chancel, nave, north vestry, south porch and a western the county, Fordingbridge hundred, union and county turret containing two bells: the stained east window

HANTS.

From Test Valley website

Home Page > Leisure and Wellbeing > History and Museums > Hurstbourne Tarrant Hurstbourne Tarrant

Hurstbourne Tarrant was a Saxon settlement (Hissaburnham), part of the extensive King's Forest. In 1266 Hurstbourne was granted to the Cistercian nunnery at Tarrant in Dorset, hence the name. Writer William Cobbett loved the village, staying often with his friend Joseph Blount at Rookery Farm where he wrote much of his 'Rural Rides'. He made more than 20 references to 'the village of Uphusband, the legal name of which is Hurstbourne Tarrant'. In one he commented 'I love this place'. The very large gravestone of his friend Joseph is just inside the lych gate of St Peter's Church. He left instructions that the stone should be large enough for children to play marbles on. In the church you will see the fine painting of the 'Three Quick and Three Dead'.

Ibthorpe. Ibbers Farm (Ibthorpe) is a possible site where Olaf's hostages settled. These people stayed as part of an agreement with King Ethelred made in 994 when the Viking, Olaf Tryggvason, having been confirmed by Bishop Alphege of Winchester, returned to Norway and converted his country to Christianity.

Upton, one of the small hamlets in the Parish, earns a mention in the Domesday Book. In the 11th century, 'Optune' formed part of the possessions of Edith, queen of Edward the Confessor.

NOTES FROM KELLY'S AND OTHER DIRECTORIES

1831/2 Pigots Directory

Andover: Carrier to Newbury:

every Wednesday evening Robert Dance and James Winter from the Bishop Blaize every Wednesday morning James Shipton from the Market Place [presumably via Hbt]

1857 Craven & Co's Commercial Directory of the County of Hampshire

Hurstbourne Priors: 1851 population 468 area 3132 acres. Hurstbourne Tarrant: The tithes are commuted at £1725:11:6. The glebe is worth £50 a year. There are 2 sums bequeathed for the support, in part, of the National School. Richard Bunny in 1770 invested £300 consolidated annuities to be annually distributed to those of the poor who have not received parish relief, but 18/- of the said interest was to be applied towards defraying the expenses of educating 2 poor children. These bequests have at different times been augmented and make the total sum of £268, the deficiency of the master's salary being made up by a subscription. The Independents have a school here and a chapel. Ibthorpe, Upton and Conholt are hamlets included in this parish, which comprises 5035 acres and contains a population of 867. David Albemarle Dewar is lord of the manor and Brickleton is a tithing.

Alder Rev Gilbert MA Blount Joseph Esq

Fletcher Rev John Independent Minister

Herbert Mr John

Trades

Annetts George Joiner etc Anthony Anthony tailor

Bailey William Wood dealer Ball George Victualler 'King's Head' Batchelor Ann postmistress

Batchelor Charles boot and shoemaker Batten William Dale Farmer Prosperous

Farm

Bendle, Hugh Elton Mill Farm

Victualler 'George' Chandler James

Church Harry Farmer Day Henry carrier

Purver John relieving officer/registrar

Purver Mary Ann boarding school Smith William wood dealer Waight William wheelwright Webb William harness maker

Wilkins Robert & Isaac joiners & wheelwrights

National Schools

Alexander William master Alexander Mary mistress

Ibthorp Gentry

Mosdell the Misses

Trades

Dillon Eugene Inland Revenue officer

Green George shopkeeper Green John Hillier farmer Guy William watchmaker

Head James grocer and linen draper

Herbert William North farmer

beer retailer & coal **Hutchings George** merchant

Victualler Coopers Arms Knight Hannah

Knight Stephen Maltster Massey George baker & grocer

Medhurst Elizabeth plumber painter & glazier

Medhurst John Vincent surgeon [trade!] farmer

Miles Thomas

Moon Charles farmer Pilldown Farm

North John shoemaker **Nutley Charles** maltster Osmond Richard butcher Poffley James blacksmith

Alexander Henry farmer Bound William farmer Herbert Herbert farmer **Hutchings George** bricklayer Nutley William gardener Purver Richard Eli farmer Tanner Charles shoemaker Warwick James beer retailer Wilkins John tailor

.....

1859 White Directory of Hampshire, p. 462 (fiche 5)

The Bourne rivulet is one of the highest sources of the river Test.

"...parish of Hurstbourne Tarrant 867 souls and 5035 acres, rising in bold undulations.......more than 1200 acres of woods...2 high moorland commons, one 200 and the other 70 acres. David Attinwell Bartle Dewar is lord of the manor but a great part of the soil belongs to smaller freeholders...the Rev Peter Debarry was 40 years vicar here and died in 1841, aged 77. The vicarage, valued in K.B. at £8 13s 4d and now at £370, with the curacy of Vernham Dean annexed to it, is in the patronage of the Bishop of Winchester and incumbency of the Rev Gilbert Alder MA, who is also rural dean of the northwest division of Andover Deanery. The glebe is 8 acres. The vicarage house is a commodious residence, which was improved in 1842 at the cost of £800. The National School was built in 1848 at a cost of £374. Two yearly rent charges, viz £5 left by William Jones in 1756 and £2 10s left by Peter Dore in the same year are applied towards the support of the school. Poor widows and widowers of the parish have 20s a year left by Mary Mundy in 1706, out of land at North Down. In 1775 Richard Bunny gave £300 three per cent consols. {consolidated} in trust for relieving the poor parishioners...the poor of Ibthorpe hamlet have a yearly rent charge of 7s 6d left by Luke Pearce out of land at Wildhern.

The Post Office is at Mrs Ann Batchelor's. Henry Day, of Ibthorpe, is the weekly carrier, to Newbury on Tuesday and Andover on Friday.

Alder, Rev Gilbert, Vicar and Rural Dean

Alexander, Wm, Schoolmaster

Anthony, Anthony, Tailor
Bailey, Wm, Wood Dealer
Ball, Geo, Vict. King's Head

Chandler, Jas, Vict. George & Dragon

Dance, Mr James

Daw, Wm Hy, Boarding School

(Ib) Day, Henry, Carrier

Green, Mrs Priscilla

Guy, Thos, Watchmaker etc

(Ib) Wilkins, John, Tailor

FARMERS

(Ib) Alexander, Hy, Castrator Bendle, Hugh Elton, Windmill Farm

Blount, Joseph Lockyer, Chas

(Ib) Bound, Wm and John (Ib) Child, Wm Criswick¹

Eustace Caleb, Prosperous Farm

Knight, Hen..b (illegible!), Vict., Cooper's Arms

Medhurst, John Vincent, Surgeon

Medhurst, William (Ib) Misses Mosdell Nutley, Charles, Maltster

Purver, John, Relieving officer and registrar

Purver, Mary Ann, School
Scott, Wm Hy, Excise officer
Webb, Wm, Saddler etc
Wickham, Wm, Gent

(Ib) Herbert Herbert

Miles, Thos, Parsonage Farm

Moor, Charles (?Pilldown) (Ib) Purver, Richard Eli

BEERHOUSES (Ib) Brown Rd Hutchins, Geo BLACKSMITHS Poffley, Jas Sendall, Jno (sic)

¹ ?Id/w Percy Ball's "Chrisick Child"

BUTCHERS Batchelor, Chas and Parish Clerk

Hutchins, Geo Hendy, Hy
Osmond Rd North, John

CARPENTERS & WHEELWRIGHTS

Annetts, Geo

Waight, Wm (Timber Merchant) SHOPKEEPERS
Wilkins, Isaac Green, Geo
Wilkins, Thos Head, James
Massey, Geo

SHOEMAKERS Roberts, Jph

KELLY'S POST OFFICE DIRECTORY OF HAMPSHIRE, 1867

The principal landowners are John King Esq, the Misses Mosdell, and Henry Atkins Esq.

P O Charles Batchelor, Receiver

National School Wm Alexander, Master, Mrs May (?Mary) Alexander, Mistress

<u>Hurstbourne Tarrant</u> Hutchins, Geo, Butcher and Beer Retailer

Alexander, Wm Henry

Alder [vicar]

Knight, {Stephen?}

Lambden, Wm,

Wood Dealer

Baker, Mrs

Locke, Jane (Mrs)

Straw Bonnet Maker

Blake, Thos Wm esq Locker [?Lockyer] Charles, Farmer

Hill, Henry esq Medhurst, Mrs Elizabeth, Painter, Plumber etc

Massey, Mr GeorgeMiles, Thos,FarmerMedhurst, MrsNorth, John,ShoemakerNutley, Chas,MaltsterCOMMERCIALOsmond, Richard,Butcher

Annetts, Geo, Carpenter Purver, John, relieving officer and registrar,

Anthony, Anthony, Tailor

births and deaths

Batchelor, C, Shoemaker/Parish Clerk Purver, Mary Ann (Mrs) Ladies School Purver, Richard Eli, Blake, Thos Wm, Surgeon Farmer Cook {Charles?} George Roberts, Joseph, Shopkeeper Day, Henry, Wood Dealer Robins, Robert, Farmer Green, Geo, Shopkeeper Sandell, John, Blacksmith

Guy, Wm, Watchmaker Waight, Wm, Wheelwright and smith

Head, Jas, Draper and Grocer Webb, Wm, Harness Maker Hill, Henry, Farmer/ Landowner Wilkins, Robert and Isaac, Carpenters and

Hillier, George, Baker Wheelwrights

.....

Mercer & Crocker's Hampshire Directory 1871

Value of the living £370 pa.

Alder Rev Gilbert Guy William watchmaker
Alexander William schoolmaster Head James draper & grocer
Bartlett Frederick relieving officer Herbert William North farmer, Lower Conholt
Batchelor Charles shoemaker & postmaster Hill Henry farmer & landowner

Blake Thos William surgeon Hillier George baker
Cook Charles George Inn Hutchins George beer retailer
Day Henry Wood dealer Knight Alfred Coopers Arms

Green George shopkeeper Lockyer Charles farmer

Medhurst William plumber etc Adams Thomas farmer Aplin William Miles George farmer farmer Moon Charles Bound John farmer farmer Bound William North John shoemaker farmer Osmond Richard butcher Brown Richard beer retailer Sandell John blacksmith **Bradbury Grant** wheelwright

Smith William wood dealer Holdway Charles shopkeeper
Webb William harness maker Lambden William carrier
Wilkins Isaac wheelwright Richardson William shopkeeper
Ibthorp Wallis George farmer

.....

KELLYS 1875

Alder, The Rev, Vicarage Hillier, Geo, Baker and shopkeeper Mrs Adams Hutchins, Geo, Butcher and beer retailer

Alexander, Thos Knight, Alfred, Cooper Blake, Thos Wm Knight, Alfred Jr, Cooper's Arms Dewar, Albemarle Willoughby & Mrs, Doles House Lambden, Wm, Carrier

Hartland, Wm Locke, Jane, Straw bonnet Maker

Hill, Henry, Farmer and landowner Lockyer, Chas, Farmer

Massey, Mrs Medhurst, Wm, Painter and plumber Stone, Mrs Miles, George, Parsonage Farm

North, John, Shoemaker

COMMERCIAL Osmond, Richard, Butcher & cattle dealer

Anthony, Anthony, tailor Roberts, Caroline (Mrs), Shopkeeper

Batchelor, C, Shoemaker & parish clerk Sandell, John, Blacksmith Surgeon Wallis, Geo Henry (Mrs), School

Cook, {Charles?}GeorgeWebb, William,Harness makerDay, Henry,Wood DealerWilkins, Chas,CarpenterGerrish, Samuel,Seed merchantWilkins, Isaac,Carpenter and

Gerrish, Thomas, Land valuer wheelwright

Green, George Shopkeeper & {farmer?} Wright, Arthur, Shopkeeper Head, Jas, Draper and grocer

Ibthorp (sic)

Mosdell, Misses

COMMERCIAL

Adams, Thos, Farmer
Aplin, William, Farmer
Bound, John, Farmer

Bound, Wm, Farmer and landowner
Bradbury, Grant, Wheelwright & Blacksmith

Brown, Thomas, Beer retailer Richardson, William, Shopkeeper

.....

WHITE, HISTORY OF HAMPHSIRE 1878

[The Church] contains a handsome monument in memory of Lt Fras. Alder, of the 77th Regiment, who died at Scutari, October 6th 1854, aged 24. He was the 3rd son of the present vicar.

Adams, Miss Mary The Cedars Adams, Thos Farmer, Ibthorpe

Alder, Capt Chas RN The vicarage Knight, Alfred, Jr Maltster and Victualler, Alder, Rev Gilbert The vicarage Cooper's Arms

Alexander, Mrs Louisa Lambden, Wm Carrier

Anthony Anthony Tailor Lewis, Chas Farmer, Pildown Farm

Aplin, William Farmer, Ibthorpe Massey, Mrs Mather

Batchelor, Chas Parish clerk and Miles, Geo Parsonage Farm postmaster Moreton, Thos Plumber, painter &

Batchelor, James Shoemaker glazier

Bound, John Farmer, Yewtree Farm, Mosdell, Miss Mary Ann Ibthorpe House

Ibthorpe Mosdell, Miss Elizabeth

Bound, William Farmer and landowner, North, John Shoemaker

> Butcher and Ibthorpe Farm Osmond, Richard

Bradbury, Grant Wheelwright and cattle dealer

blacksmith, Ibthorpe Payne, Charles Bootmaker Brown, Thomas Beer retailer, Ibthorpe Poulton, John Baker and grocer

Day, Henry Wood dealer Richardson, Wm Shopkeeper, Ibthorp

Dewar, Albemarle & Jane Doles House Sandell, John Blacksmith Gerrish, Samuel Seed merchant Seward, John Blacksmith

Gerrish, Thomas Land valuer, Prosperous Farm Stone, Miss Ann

Gilmour, Jno. Henry Surgeon Towler, Mr Charles Schoolteacher

Golding, William Machine owner Towler, Mrs Emma Mary Schoolteacher Green, Geo Farmer and shopkeeper Turner, Mr & Mrs Edward Baker and

Grocer, draper etc Head, James

Hill, Henry Farmer and landowner Farmer, Deane Villa Wallis, George Henry

Hillier, Mrs Ellen Webb, William Harness maker Hillier, George Grocer and baker Wilkins, Charles Carpenter

Horrell, Augustus W. Relieving officer, registrar Wilkins, Mrs Sarah Carpenter &

of births and deaths, and vaccination officer for HbT wheelwright[?]

district Willis, Mr Walter

Hutchins, Geo Butcher and beer retailer Wright, Arthur Victualler, George &

Knight, Alfred Cooper Dragon, baker, grocer & mealman Young, Mrs Matilda Farmer

......

KELLYS DIRECTORY 1880

Alder, the Rev Golding, William, Machine Owner Adams, Miss Green, George, Shopkeeper and farmer

Guy, William Dewar

Gilmour, John Henry, Surgeon Head, Miss Harriet Draper and

Farmer & Landowner Hill, Henry, grocer

Hillyer, George William Baker and shopkeeper Hillier, George,

Massey, Mrs Hutchins, Geo

Meadows, Mrs Knight, Alfred Farmer Stone, Miss Lambden, William Carrier Commercial: Farmer, Pilldown

Lewis, John

Tailor Anthony Anthony, Locke, Jane

Batchelor, Charles Lockyer, Charles Farmer

Batchelor, J, Miles, Geo Parsonage Farm Shoemaker

Berry, Edward Coopers Arms Moreton, tom Plumber Day, Henry Wood Dealer North, John

Gerrish, Samuel Osmond, Richard Hy

Gerrish, Thomas Pyle, George Carpenter

Sandell, John Blacksmith Aplin Farmer Turner, Ebenezer Shopkeeper Bound, W J Farmer

Bradbury, Grant Wheelwright/blacksmith Webb, William Harness maker

Brown, Thos Beer retailer Wilkins, Charles Carpenter Wight, A George & Dragon, Bryant, John Farmer

shopkeeper Gibbons, Joseph Officer of Inland

Revenue

Ibthorp Misses Mosdell Richardson, Wm Shopkeeper Adams, Thos Farmer Stagg, George Relieving Officer

KELLYS 1895 – SEE PHOTOCOPY

KELLYS DIRECTORY 1899

The population in 1891 was 755. Doiley Manor is the residence of Herbert Edward Phillips Esq. Doles is the residence of Francis Currer-Jones Esq (though the property of A W Dewar).

Principal landowners: Gerrish, Thos & Son

A W Dewar Godwin, Emmanuel Builder, contractor, Wm Bound undertaker, plumber, painter, decorator etc and A B Heath

steam sawmills

Herbert E Phillips Goodyer, Timothy Blacksmith

Green, Henry Colson The trustees and J & G Atkins Esgrs Grocer, baker & draper James Cordery and the trustees of Corpus Green, John Alexander Farmer

Christi College Oxford Hillier, Henry Woodman Hutchins, Edward Cattle dealer

George Batchelor Beer retailer and brewer Sexton: Hutchins, Geo

Wm Corbett Butcher Schoolmaster: Hutchins, Henry Latimer, Wm George Bootmaker

The Cedars Adams, Miss Lloyd, Mrs Martha Dressmaker Dewar, AW The Dean Locke, Jane Wardrobe Dealer Lockver, Chas Gerrish, Samuel Parsonage Farm

Gilmour, John Henry Pavey, Mrs Ann George & Dragon ph

MRCS Eng LSA London Hurst Lodge Percy, Sidney Carpenter Carrier and coal merchant Hooper, Mrs Dalton House Purver, James

Jones, Francis Currer Doles House Rainsford, James Head gamekeeper to A W Dewar

Medhurst, Mrs Weeks, John Blacksmith

Wright, Miss Edith Merritt, Mrs A Lea The Limes Shopkeeper

Oliver, The Rev Charles Norwood Ibthorp Ballingall, Mrs Philips, Herbert Edward Doiley Manor

Bouwer, John Robert Ibthorpe House Commercial:

Baker, Mrs Eliza Coopers Arms Gerish, Wm

Bennett, Mrs Charlotte Bell, Charles Baker & Grocer Farmer

Grocer, baker, Post Bound, Wm Bell, Samuel James Office Briant, Edward

Berry, Albert Edward Brewer, maltster & job Cox, Charles Woodman

master Dewey, Jesse Beer retailer

Briant Bros. Farmers & machine Richardson, William Shopkeeper owners, Prosperous Stagg, George Relieving officer

Cordiner, Mark Henry Farm bailiff to Mr Wiltshire, Thos Insurance agent

Phillips, Doiley

.....

Kelly's Directory 1903

Net yearly value of living is £217 with 12 acres of glebe and residence and held since 1892 by the Rev. Oliver. Here is a Congregational chapel, built in 1840, with 200 sittings and a Primitive Methodist chapel. The principal landowners are Herbert Edward Philips, Doiley Manor, Dewar, William Bound, A B Heath, Herbert Philips, Trustees of J & G Atkins, James Cordery and the trustees of Corpus Christi College. Population in 1901 is 743. Elementary school built 1845 for 130 children, average attendance 100-

supported in part by 3 sums of £5, £2:10 and 18/- bequeathed by different donors.

•			
The Cedars		blacksmith	
The Dean	,	farmer	
Garvery	Harris, William	butcher	
Doles	Harvey, George A	Coopers Arms ph	
Hurst Lodge	Hillier Harry	woodman	
Dalton House	Hutchins Edward	cattle dealer	
	Hutchins, Mrs Sarah	beer retailer	
The Limes	Lloyd Elizh. Martha Miss	postmistress	
	Lloyd Martha Mrs	dressmaker	
Doiley Manor	Lockyer, Charles	farmer Parsonage Farm	
	Miles, Emily Bedford (Miss) private school,		
baker & grocer		Prosperous	
grocer, baker & draper and	Miles, Norris B	grocer & draper	
	Pavey Ann Mrs	George and Dragon	
brewer maltster & job	Rainsford James	gamekeeper to Dewar	
master	Weeks John	blacksmith	
machine owners	Ibthorp		
farmer Prosperous farm	Coomber William James		
farmer Pill heath	Dunton James	Ibthorp House	
coal merchant	Gerish William		
farm bailiff, Doiley Manor	Maynard Henry Martyn		
land & estate agents,	Ratcliffe Herbert Croakley	7	
surveyors & insurance agents		farmer	
public vaccinator 6th	Briant Edward	woodman	
	Cox Charles	woodman	
apartments, Deane House	Jones Fred	beer retailer	
builder, contractor &	Purver James	Coal merchant and farmer	
nter & decorator etc & steam	Stagg George	relieving officer &	
saw mills; all kinds of English & foreign timber kept		registrar 2 nd district Andover Union	
	Doles Hurst Lodge Dalton House The Limes Doiley Manor baker & grocer grocer, baker & draper and brewer maltster & job master machine owners farmer Prosperous farm farmer Pill heath coal merchant farm bailiff, Doiley Manor land & estate agents, ents public vaccinator 6th apartments, Deane House builder, contractor & eter & decorator etc & steam	The Dean Garvery Harris, William Doles Harvey, George A Hurst Lodge Hullier Harry Dalton House Hutchins Edward Hutchins, Mrs Sarah Lloyd Elizh. Martha Miss Lloyd Martha Mrs Lockyer, Charles Miles, Emily Bedford (Miss baker & grocer grocer, baker & draper and Miles, Norris B Pavey Ann Mrs brewer maltster & job master Weeks John machine owners farmer Prosperous farm farmer Pill heath coal merchant farm bailiff, Doiley Manor land & estate agents, ents public vaccinator 6 th Briant Edward Cox Charles builder, contractor & ents enter & decorator etc & steam Green Henry Colson Harris, William Harry, George A Hillier Harry Hutchins Edward Hutchins, Mrs Sarah Lloyd Elizh. Martha Miss Lloyd Martha Mrs Lockyer, Charles Pavey Ann Mrs Rainsford James Coomber William James Coomber William James Maynard Henry Martyn Ratcliffe Herbert Croakley Bound John Briant Edward Cox Charles Jones Fred Purver James Stagg George	

BENNETT'S BUSINESS DIRECTORY 1907

Hurstbourne Tarrant early closing day: Wednesday 4 pm. Population-ecclesiastical parish 751, civil parish 743. Railways: nearest is Hurstbourne, 4 miles distant.

Bell, Charles Grocer & Baker Church Street. Grocer, baker & mealman. Horses and carriages on hire at the shortest notice. Agent for 'My Bloom' Teas and Coffee. Huntley & Palmer's biscuits. Cakes of every description made to order.

Bell S I Grocer

in stock

Berry E Brewer, maltster & cab proprietor. Conveyance of every description on hire by the day, hour or week.

Briant Machine owner

Collins J Coal merchant

<u>Coopers Arms</u> G A Harvey proprietor. Wine & Spirit merchant. Dinners & teas catered for. Good accommodation for cyclists. Comfortable bedrooms. [nb date – burnt down 1904!]

O <u>Edwards</u> Coal coke and wood merchant and haulier. Coal and coke at lowest prices for cash. Special quotations for large quantities.

<u>George & Dragon Inn</u> Mrs Pavey proprietress. Good accommodation for cyclists and visitors. Good stabling wheelwright and smith.

Gilmour, Dr

Godwin, E builder & house decorator, plumber painter & glazier, sanitary engineer

Goodyer T, shoeing smith

W Harris Family butcher. HT & StMB. Best home-killed English meat. Prime Beef, Mutton, Pork.Lamb & veal.

Pickled Tongues, Corned Beef etc. Families waited on daily.

Hutchings, Mrs Costumier. Perfect fit and style guaranteed. Mourning and wedding orders receive special attention.

Hutchins S J Maltster and brewer, 'Plough' Inn Brewery. Ales supplied in large or small quantities

<u>Lloyd</u> Mrs Scientific dress and mantle maker, Woodford House. Perfect fit guaranteed.

Miles N Grocer, Supply stores

Purver, J Coal merchant

Weeks J shoeing smith

West D carrier

.....

Kelly's Directory 1907

Living worth £204, with 12 acres of glebe and residence. Vicar since 1907 is Arrowsmith of Corpus Christi Oxford. Here is a Congregational chapel built in 1840 with 160 sittings and a Primitive Methodist chapel. Prosperous, ¾ mile north-east, is an estate of c. 200 acres, owned by T W Blake. Principal landowners are William bound, A B Heath, the trustees of Herbert E Phillips, the trustees of J & G Atkins Esqrs, James Cordery esq and Corpus Christ College.

Hooper Mrs	Dalton House	Green H C	farmer
Loscombe, Col Arthur Russell	Garvery	Harris William	butcher
Coleman Joseph Parson		Hillier Henry	woodman
Adams Miss	The Cedars	Hutchins Edward	cattle dealer
Arrowsmith The Rev		Hutchins Sarah Jane	beer retailer
Dewar A W	Doles	Mulholland William	farmer, Doiley Manor\$
Gilmour Dr	Hurst House	Palmer Richard	farmer Rookery Farm

Merritt Mrs A Lea The Limes Pond John farmer Parsonage farm
Oliver, The Rev Charles Norwood Smith Charles farm bailiff to L F Lloyd Doles farm

CommercialIbthorpAllcroft Walterfarmer Doiley Manor\$Dunton JamesBell Charlesbaker and grocerGerrish, WilliamBell S JThe DeanProsser, H WBell SydneybuilderSmith Albert Ernest

Blake Thomas William Prosperous Bound S & N farmers

Briant Bros machine owners Bound, William farmer & landowner

woodman **Brooks James** farmer Briant Edward Coleman Gilbert Charles blacksmith **Briant George** farmer **Edwards Obed** Coal merchant Ford George beer retailer Gerrish Thos & sons land & estate agents etc Piper James dairyman

Gerrish William asst overseer clerk to parish council, Purver James coal merchant & farmer

deputy registrar Staggs George relieving officer

Goodyer Timothy butcher

Kelly's Directory 1920

Net yearly value of living £280 held since 1907 by the Rev Arrowsmith. ..Here is a Congregational chapel...and

Primitive Methodist Chapel. The principal landowners are Solomon Ford and James Cordery.

Chard Capt Harry Athelstan Garvery Coleman, Joseph William Vincent apartments

Ford Solomon Doiley Manor Dalton House

CommercialColeman W GblacksmithBell CharlesBakerWhite, Victorcarrier

Briant brothers Machine owners Ibthorp

Briant Basil butcher Anderson James J Ibthorp House Briant James carman Bound Sidney & Norman farmers, The Yews

Brooks James farmer Bound, Arthur Courtney

Brown Henry asst. overseer & clerk to PC, Dean

House

.....

KELLYS DIRECTORY 1923

Population in 1911 was 719 (civil parish) and 771 (ecclesiastical parish). Sexton: Alfred Wells

Post Office: Miss Elizabeth Martha Lloyd Edwards, Obed Coal dealer Vicar: Clarke, the Rev James William Found, Mrs Mary J Beer retailer Dewar Hillier, Frederick George & Dragon ph

Gilmour Hodges, Newton Grocer
Hort, Sir Arthur Fenton, bt the Old Rectory Hutchins, Thomas* Farmer
Merritt, Anna Lea the Limes Jones & Knight Ltd Builders
Pearson, Dewsbury T Garvery House Miles, Norris B Grocer

Radcliffe, Lt Col W Esseborne Manor Pavey, Mrs Ann Apartments, Old Manor House Shepherd, Charles Cecil The Cedars Ponting, John Farmer, Pill Heath Spencer-Cooper Cmdr Henry Edmund Harvey RN Stanley, Lt Col Edmund Hamilton Blake Physician & Surgeon & public vaccinator

Stanley, Lt Col Edmund Hamilton Blake White, Victor Carrier

Commercial:*=farm of more than 150 acres **Ibthorp**:

Briant, Basil Butcher Anderson, James J Ibthorp House

Briant, George* Farmer Bound, Mrs

Briant, James Carman Mackilligin, Neil Grant

Briant, Mark Baker Prosser, Henry Wykey Windmills

Brooks, James Farmer Bound, Arthur Courtney* Farmer

Burder, Reginald E C* Farmer Briant, Edward Woodman
Ching, Henry Thomas Collector of Taxes Briant, George Farmer, Bank Tree Farm
Coleman, Joseph William Vincent Ford, Mrs Frances Beer retailer

Apartments, Dalton House Pond, Harry James Butcher Coleman, William Gilbert Blacksmith Purver, James Farmer

Cooper, Arthur Newsagent

Kelly's Directory for 1927

Broadhurst, Maj Oswald Arcot Spencer Cooper Doyley Manor Ducat, cmdr Gerald JP, RN (Ret) Garvery House Straker, Capt Joseph LLM, FGCM FZSDoiley Hill

Fleetwood-Jones, Rev Percival Vicarage Commercial:

Gilmour, Mrs Hurst Lodge Briant, M & Sons **Bakers** The Old Rectory Hort, Sir Arthur Briant, George Farmer Merritt, Anna Lea The Limes Briant, James Carman Radcliffe, Lt Col W Esseborne Manor Brooks, James Farmer

Shepard, Charles Cecil The Cedars Burder Coopers Arms

Cutting, Herbert G Butcher Ibthorpe:

Edwards, Obed Anderson, James J Ibthorp House

Found, Mary T Bound, Mrs

Hillier, Fred George & Dragon ph Mackilligin, Neil Grant

Hodges, Newton Grocer Prosser, Henry Wykey Windmills Holt, Frank Bound, Arthur Courtney* Farmer Charabanc proprietor Hutchins, Thos* Farmer Briant, Edward Woodman

Knight, Wm Builder & asst. rate collector Briant, George Farmer, Bank Tree Farm

Butcher Beer retailer Pond, Harry Ford, Mrs Frances Ponting, John Farmer Pond, Harry James Butcher Scull, Wm Jn Builder Farmer Purver, James

Stanley, Lt Col

KELLY'S DIRECTORY FOR 1931

1921 Population: 619 (civil parish), 665 (ecclesiastical parish)The living is worth £402 net. The vicar since 1925 is the Rev Percival Fleetwood-Jones. There is a Congregational chapel...Doles is the property and residence of A W D Dewar, who is lord of the manor. Capt Henry Edmund Harvey Spencer-cooper is the principal landowner.

Sexton: Alfred Wells Hillier & Wells Motor Garage Burder, Reginald the Rookery* Hodges Newton grocer

Denny, James William Deane House Holt Frank charabanc proprietor

Dewar, AWD Doles **Hutchins Tom** farmer

Garvery House Ducat, Cmdr Knight, Wm Builder & asst. rate collector

Fleetwood Jones the Vicarage Mills, John Farmer Hurst Lodge Gilmour, Mrs Pond, Harry Jas Butcher Sunnymeades Savory, Miss Margaret M MD BSc Lond, Haynes, Mrs

Hort, Sir Arthur The Old Rectory MRCS Eng, LRCP Lond, Physician and Surgeon, Radcliffe, Lt Col W Esseborne Manor

Shepherd's Peace

Savory, Miss M B Shepherd's Peace White, W Jas* Doiley Farm

Shepard C C The Cedars Doily Manor Spencer Cooper Ibthorp

Straker, Mrs Doiley Hill Anderson James G Ibthorp House

Bound Arthur Courtney* Commercial: farmer

Briant M & Sons bakers Briant, Edward woodman

Found Mrs I beer retailer

Hicks, Mrs Clara Shopkeeper

Briant, George* farmer Bank Tree Fm Ford, Mrs Frances E beer retailer Pond Harry James butcher Purver James farmer

.....

Kelly's Directory for 1935

1931 population is 620 (civil parish) and 658 (ecclesiastical parish). The living is a vicarage net yearly value £390...there is a Congregational chapel, built in 1840, with 160 sittings, and a Methodist chapel.

Trelfall, The Rev Henry Charles 1934-Doiley Manor Boake E J Skipwith, Sir Grey Humbertson d'Estoteville Burder* Rookery Farm Owns Doles Colman, Miss Margaret Daltons

Boake, Edmond Johnson Doiley Manor Denny, James William Deane House

Bound, Arthur Gilmour, Mrs

Are the chief landowners Hort, Lady The Old Rectory

Ponting, John B A Pillheath Mills Jn Farmer
Radcliffe Lt Col Esseborne Manor Ponting John BA farmer, Pill heath

Savory, Miss Shepherd's Peace Savory, Miss

Shepard, C C The Cedars Snuggs, Sidney Charles

Skipwith, Sir Grey Doles House Varley, Harry Grocer

Walker, Lt Col Charles Garvery House **Ibthorp**:

Wright, Lt Col Ernest Doiley Hill Loder, George Edward JP(Lond)

Commercial: Raynham, Miss Windmills

Briant, M & Sons baker Standen, Sir Bertram Prior KCIE KSI

Edwards, Mrs Effie Maria Coal dealer Trewby, Henry William Yew Tree Farm Elder, Mrs Agnes Tea Rooms, the Limes Winser, Louis Gordon Windmills Lodge

Green, Mauric Colson grocer Commercial

Hicks, Mrs Clara Shopkeeper Austin, William James* Farmer, Windmills

Hillier, Fredk Motor garage Bound, Arthur Courtney farmer*

Knight, W, Sec. HbT Conservative Association Briant, George farmer, Bank Tree Farm* Hon Sec

Hutchins,Tom Farmer HbT British Legion

Knight, Wm The Oaks, Builder Pike, Chas Beer retailer

& clerk to PCC Purver, James Farmer

Kelly's Directory for 1939

Population 620 (civil parish) and 658 (ecclesiastical parish)

. vicarage worth £390 'there is a Congregational chapel...and a Methodist chapel'

As 1935, except: Briant, M & Sons Baker

Tugwell, Cmdr O N, RD RNR (Retd)

Prosperous Farm Tel 52

Wright, Lt Col Ernest Trevor, Doiley Hill Tel 29

Bracher, Chas * Farmer, Medlands Tel 49

Loder, George Edward JP Ibthorp House

Hampshire & General Friendly Society

Musson, Geo Oak, farmer, Bank Tree Farm

Pike, Chas White Hart ph

Other telephone numbers: Skipwith 24, Raynham 38, Redcliffe Esseborne 42, Hort 44, Boake 43.

^{*} denotes farm of 150 acres and over